

The PEW charitable trusts

| May 2016



Antibiotic Use in Outpatient Settings

Health experts create national targets to reduce unnecessary antibiotic prescriptions

The Pew Charitable Trusts

Susan K. Urahn, executive vice president Allan Coukell, senior director

Elizabeth Jungman, director

The antibiotic resistance project team members

Kathy Talkington, project director David Hyun, senior officer

Rachel Zetts, senior associate Pooja Kothari, associate

External reviewers

This report benefited from the insights and expertise of external reviewers Jeffrey Linder, associate professor of medicine at Harvard Medical School and associate physician at Brigham and Women's Hospital, and Matthew Kronman, assistant professor, Division of Infectious Diseases at the University of Washington and Seattle Children's Hospital. Although they have reviewed the report, neither they nor their organizations necessarily endorse its findings or conclusions.

Acknowledgments

The project team would like to thank the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)—specifically Lauri Hicks, Katherine Fleming-Dutra, Rebecca Roberts, Guillermo Sanchez, Michael Craig, and Monina Bartoces—for partnering with Pew on this important work. The project team would also like to thank CDC Director Tom Frieden for his ongoing support of antibiotic stewardship in the U.S. The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the CDC.

We would further like to thank those who participated on the expert panel that developed the antibiotic reduction targets that serve as the foundation for this report: Eva Enns, Thomas File, Jonathan Finkelstein, Jeffrey Gerber, Adam Hersh, Jeffrey Linder, Ruth Lynfield, David Margolis, Larissa May, Daniel Merenstein, Joshua Metlay, Jason Newland, Jay Piccirillo, Daniel Shapiro, Katie Suda, Ann Thomas, and Teri Moser Woo. Neither they nor their organizations necessarily endorse the report's findings or conclusions.

Additionally, the project team would like to thank the following Pew colleagues for their assistance in the development of this report. Thanks to Tia Carter, a former colleague, for help in coordinating and convening the expert panel; and to Sarah Despres for lending her expertise to this effort. Finally, thanks to Heather Cable, Katie Portnoy, Laurie Boeder, Demetra Aposporos, Bailey Gregory, and Dan Benderly for providing valuable feedback and production assistance on this report.

The analyses of National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) and National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NHAMCS) data on U.S. antibiotic prescribing presented in this report were also published in *The Journal of the American Medical Association.*

Contact: Heather Cable, communications officer Email: hcable@pewtrusts.org Project website: pewtrusts.org/antibiotics

The Pew Charitable Trusts is driven by the power of knowledge to solve today's most challenging problems. Pew applies a rigorous, analytical approach to improve public policy, inform the public, and invigorate civic life.

Contents

- 1 Overview
- 2 Background

Importance of improved antibiotic stewardship 2

3 Establishing a baseline of outpatient antibiotic use

5 Establishing national targets for reducing unnecessary antibiotic use in outpatient settings

Overarching recommendations for reduction 8 Acute respiratory conditions 8 Sinus infections 9 Middle ear infections 10 Pharyngitis 11 Viral upper respiratory infections 12 Bronchitis and bronchiolitis 13 Asthma and allergy 13 Influenza 14 Pneumonia 15 Other conditions 16

17 Reaching national targets for improved antibiotic use: The role of antibiotic stewardship

Outpatient antibiotic stewardship: What does it look like? **17** Role of health care stakeholders in expanding outpatient antibiotic stewardship programs **17**

- 20 Appendix A: Glossary
- 21 Appendix B: Data sources for assessing outpatient antibiotic use
- 22 Appendix C: Methodology for setting national reduction targets
- 24 Appendix D: Reduction tables
- 26 Endnotes

Overview

The use and misuse of antibiotics is a major contributor to the development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. These drugs should be used only to treat bacterial infections and, when needed, the right antibiotic should be prescribed at the most appropriate dose and duration. Yet antibiotics are often prescribed inappropriately across health care settings in the United States. Antibiotic stewardship efforts, which aim to ensure that these drugs are prescribed appropriately, are critical for combating the public health threat posed by antibiotic-resistant pathogens. To effectively implement and evaluate stewardship efforts, it is essential to first understand current antibiotic prescribing patterns.

Antibiotic use in outpatient health care settings, such as primary care offices and emergency rooms, represents the majority of dollars spent on antibiotics for human health care in the United States.¹ Beginning in 2015, The Pew Charitable Trusts convened a panel of experts, including representatives from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and other public health and medical experts to analyze current outpatient antibiotic prescribing habits in the United States, determine targets for reducing inappropriate prescribing, and identify steps needed to reach these targets.

Key findings from this analysis are:

- Antibiotics should be prescribed only when a bacterial infection is known or suspected. Approximately 13 percent of all outpatient office visits in the United States, or about 154 million visits annually, result in an antibiotic prescription; about 30 percent of these, or some 47 million prescriptions, are unnecessary.
- 44 percent of outpatient antibiotic prescriptions are written to treat patients with acute respiratory conditions, such as sinus infections, middle ear infections, pharyngitis, viral upper respiratory infections (i.e., the "common cold"), bronchitis, bronchiolitis, asthma, allergies, influenza, and pneumonia. Half of these prescriptions are unnecessary, since many are viral illnesses or other conditions that do not respond to antibiotics.
- In 2015, the White House released a national action plan for combating antibiotic resistance that included the goal of reducing inappropriate outpatient antibiotic use by 50 percent by 2020.² Based on the panel's estimate of unnecessary prescribing, this goal would be reached by reducing outpatient antibiotic use by 15 percent overall, which would result in approximately 23 million fewer antibiotics prescribed annually by 2020.

This report is the first in a series evaluating current antibiotic use in the United States and establishing national targets for improved prescribing practices in different health care settings.

In addition to these findings, the expert panel discussed the importance of increased stewardship activities to ensure that the United States reaches the goal laid out in the 2015 national action plan. There is no one-size-fitsall stewardship program that practitioners can implement in their facilities. However, a number of interventions have been shown to be effective at improving prescribing habits, such as providing clinicians with individualized antibiotic prescribing feedback.

Since no single agency or organization oversees antibiotic use in outpatient facilities across the country, implementing stewardship programs nationwide will be a complex undertaking. A diverse group of stakeholders will need to take coordinated and sustained action to provide the resources and expertise necessary to expand stewardship efforts. Below is a sampling of roles that stakeholders could play in reducing inappropriate outpatient antibiotic use:

- Individual outpatient health care providers can evaluate their own prescribing habits as well as implement stewardship activities in their practices.
- Health systems can provide expertise and resources to offices within their network to aid in stewardship implementation.
- Health plans can assist in data collection and analysis—evaluating the antibiotic prescribing habits of their providers and providing feedback highlighting potential areas for improvement.
- State and local health agencies can help provide outpatient facilities with information on best practices for implementing antibiotic stewardship programs, and help develop regional partnerships between various health care stakeholders, such as providers, health plans, and health systems, to better coordinate stewardship activities.
- Federal agencies can track antibiotic prescribing at the national level, identifying areas for further improvement and providing technical assistance to stakeholders interested in implementing stewardship efforts of their own.
- Organizations that develop standards to assess the quality of health care services can develop metrics to assess the antibiotic prescribing habits of health care providers.
- Health care professional societies can provide expert guidance to their members on appropriate antibiotic prescribing and incorporating diagnostics to aid in prescribing decision-making.

Background

Antibiotics are essential to the practice of modern medicine—from treating common infections to enabling lifesaving procedures such as organ transplantation. However, the emergence and spread of antibiotic-resistant bacteria threaten the effectiveness of these critical therapies. According to the World Health Organization, high rates of resistance in common bacteria are being seen worldwide.³ In the United States, drug-resistant bacteria are responsible for at least 2 million infections each year, resulting in an estimated 23,000 deaths.⁴

Infections caused by multidrug-resistant bacteria are becoming increasingly common. A 2011 survey of U.S. infectious disease physicians found that over 60 percent of respondents had treated a patient with an infection resistant to all available antibiotics.⁵ Of particular concern is the spread of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), due to its resistance to many, if not all, available therapies and its high mortality rate once infecting the bloodstream.⁶ In 2001, only one state reported a case of CRE; as of early 2015, only two states had not reported one.⁷

Importance of improved antibiotic stewardship

All antibiotic use, whether appropriate or not, carries a risk of contributing to the development of antibiotic resistance. To minimize this threat and preserve the effectiveness of these important drugs, antibiotics should be used judiciously and prescribed only when recommended. However, much antibiotic use is unnecessary or inappropriate.⁸ Over 60 percent of antibiotic expenditures in the United States occur in outpatient settings where patients are seen for many conditions that do not warrant antibiotic use, such as acute bronchitis.⁹ Antibiotic stewardship efforts aim to ensure that these drugs are used only when indicated (i.e., for a known or suspected bacterial infection) and prescribed at the right dose and duration of therapy. Such programs are critical to limiting the development of antibiotic resistance.

In addition to the importance of antibiotic stewardship in minimizing the threat of resistance, reducing inappropriate antibiotic use can also improve patient safety. Exposure to antibiotics increases a patient's risk

of an infection caused by *Clostridium difficile*, which can cause sometimes life-threatening diarrhea. There were nearly 500,000 estimated cases of *C. difficile* infection in the United States in 2011, which resulted in approximately 15,000 deaths.¹⁰ Antibiotics also carry the risk of adverse drug events, including drug interactions, allergic reactions ranging from minor rashes to life-threatening responses, and other side effects. It is estimated that antibiotic-related adverse events result in more than 140,000 emergency room visits a year.¹¹

Establishing a baseline of outpatient antibiotic use

Antibiotics are some of the most frequently prescribed medicines in the United States.¹² To understand current prescribing patterns and identify areas for improvement, the CDC and other experts analyzed U.S. antibiotic prescribing data from 2010 to 2011 (see Appendix B for additional information on data sources). This analysis showed that about 13 percent of all outpatient health care visits—154 million visits annually—resulted in an antibiotic prescription, a large number of which were for visits related to acute respiratory conditions, such as sinus and middle ear infections, asthma and allergy, and bronchitis. These diagnoses collectively accounted for 44 percent of all outpatient antibiotics, representing 68 million prescriptions per year. Many of these respiratory syndromes are caused by viruses or may resolve without an antibiotic. Acute respiratory conditions are clearly in need of additional stewardship activities.

Figure 1 Outpatient Antibiotic Prescriptions by Diagnosis



Acute respiratory conditions

Note: Not pictured are influenza and viral pneumonia. There are not enough visits with an antibiotic prescribed in the data set to calculate reliable estimates for these diagnoses individually. Both diagnoses do contribute to the total number of antibiotics prescribed for acute respiratory conditions.

Source: Analysis of NAMCS and NHAMCS data on U.S. antibiotic prescribing, 2010-2011

© 2016 The Pew Charitable Trusts

Prescribing patterns also show distinct variations by age of the recipient and geographic region. Children younger than 2 receive the most antibiotics, averaging just over one prescription per child per year. Among U.S. regions, the West has the lowest rate of antibiotic prescribing overall, while individuals in the South are prescribed about 30 percent more antibiotics, on average. Although these variations do not necessarily indicate inappropriate antibiotic prescribing, they highlight populations for which targeted stewardship efforts may have the greatest effect.

Figure 2 Outpatient Antibiotic Prescriptions (per 1,000 People) by Age



Source: Analysis of NAMCS and NHAMCS data on U.S. antibiotic prescribing, 2010-2011 © 2016 The Pew Charitable Trusts

Figure 3 Outpatient Antibiotic Prescriptions (per 1,000 People) by Region



Establishing national targets for reducing unnecessary antibiotic use in outpatient settings

In early 2015, Pew convened a panel of experts to quantify how much of outpatient antibiotic use in the United States is inappropriate and set targets for reducing outpatient prescribing. Participants were chosen based on their expertise in appropriate outpatient antibiotic use and represented a wide range of specialties, such as primary care, infectious diseases, pediatrics, emergency medicine, pharmacy, nursing, and public health.

Using the baseline antibiotic-use data presented above, the experts reviewed the prescribing rates and current practice guidelines for each diagnosis to determine how much antibiotic use could be eliminated for each (see Appendix C for additional information on methodology for setting reduction targets and Appendix D for recommended reduction targets). This condition-specific approach allowed the panel to factor in variations in antibiotic prescribing guidelines between each illness when setting reduction targets. The panel also set specific targets by age group—0 to 19 years, 20-64, and 65 and older—for each condition.

Table 1 Expert Panel Members

Name	Affiliation	Specialty	
Monina Bartoces	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Public health, biostatistics	
Eva Enns	University of Minnesota	Mathematical modeling	
Thomas File	Summa Health System	Infectious diseases	
Jonathan Finkelstein	Boston Children's Hospital	General pediatrics	
Katherine Fleming-Dutra	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Public health, pediatric emergency medicine	
Jeffrey Gerber	The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia	Pediatric infectious diseases	
Adam Hersh	University of Utah, Primary Children's Hospital	Pediatric infectious diseases	
Lauri Hicks	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Public health, infectious diseases	
David Hyun	The Pew Charitable Trusts	Pediatric infectious diseases	
Jeffrey A. Linder	Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School	General internal medicine, primary care	
Ruth Lynfield	Minnesota Department of Health	Public health, infectious diseases	
David J. Margolis	University of Pennsylvania	Dermatology	
Larissa May	University of California, Davis	Emergency medicine	
Daniel Merenstein	Georgetown University	Family medicine	
Joshua Metlay	Massachusetts General Hospital	Internal medicine, epidemiology	
Jason Newland	St. Louis Children's Hospital, Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine	Pediatric infectious diseases	
Jay F. Piccirillo	Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine	Otolaryngology	
Rebecca Roberts	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Public health	
Guillermo Sanchez	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Public health, physician assistant	
Daniel Shapiro	University of California, San Francisco	Biostatistics	
Katie Suda	University of Illinois at Chicago	Pharmacy, infectious diseases	
Ann Thomas	Oregon Health Authority	Public health, pediatrics	
Teri Moser Woo	Pacific Lutheran University	Pediatric nursing, nurse practitioner prescribing	
Rachel Zetts	The Pew Charitable Trusts	Public health, epidemiology	

Figure 4 Expert Panel Recommendations for Improving Outpatient Antibiotic Use



Proportion of unnecessary antibiotic use: All conditions

National goal for reducing inappropriate antibiotic use by 2020

►50[%]

% 50 percent reduction, or approximately 23 million fewer prescriptions, by 2020





Unnecessary vs. Appropriate Use, by Health Condition

7

Overarching recommendations for reduction

The panel determined that at least 30 percent of the outpatient antibiotic prescriptions written in the United States are unnecessary—nearly 47 million excess prescriptions each year. The president's national action plan for combating antibiotic resistance calls for a 50 percent reduction of this inappropriate use by 2020, which would require decreasing outpatient antibiotic prescribing by 15 percent overall.

The majority of this reduction would come from eliminating unnecessary antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory conditions. The panel determined that half of all antibiotics prescribed for these conditions are unnecessary, leading to about 34 million excess prescriptions annually. Acute respiratory conditions should clearly be a target of antibiotic stewardship efforts in outpatient settings. Additionally, improving prescribing practices for other conditions, such as skin infections and acne, could reduce antibiotic use by about 13 million prescriptions annually.



Figure 5 Outpatient Antibiotic Prescribing Reduction Targets

Source: Analysis of NAMCS and NHAMCS data on U.S. antibiotic prescribing, 2010-2011 © 2016 The Pew Charitable Trusts

Acute respiratory conditions

Acute respiratory conditions include a wide range of common infections and other syndromes treated in outpatient facilities:

- Sinus infections.
- Middle ear infections.
- Pharyngitis.
- Viral upper respiratory infections ("common cold").
- Bronchitis and bronchiolitis.

- Asthma and allergy.
- Influenza.
- Pneumonia.

Antibiotics are not recommended for many of these conditions.

Sinus infections

Sinus infections are the most common reason that antibiotics are prescribed in outpatient settings in the United States, accounting for more than 17 million prescriptions annually. The majority of these prescriptions are written for adults ages 20-64. Although sinus infections can be caused by a number of pathogens, both bacterial and viral, treatment guidelines recommend antibiotic use only when the infection is suspected to be caused by bacteria.¹³ Diagnostic tests are rarely used because doctors would have to perform a surgical procedure to obtain a mucus sample from a patient's sinuses,¹⁴ which is considered impractical and too invasive for most outpatient settings.¹⁵ Thus doctors often diagnose a sinus infection based on clinical criteria—such as whether the patient has experienced related symptoms for 10 days or more without improvement.

The panel recommended a geographic approach to setting reduction targets for prescribing antibiotics to treat sinus infections. Using this method, the ideal antibiotic prescribing rate for sinus infections was set to match the U.S. region with the lowest prescribing rates for each age group. The panel estimated that nearly 6 million unnecessary antibiotic prescriptions are written for sinus infections each year. Adult patients account for an overwhelming majority of these and should be the primary population targeted by stewardship efforts for this diagnosis.



The reduction targets for sinus infections are a conservative estimate because inappropriate antibiotic prescribing occurs across the U.S., even in the lowest-prescribing region. It will be important to evaluate progress made toward these targets and to assess whether further reduction goals are warranted.

Middle ear infections

Middle ear infections are another condition for which antibiotics are commonly prescribed in outpatient health care settings. About 15 million antibiotic prescriptions are written for this diagnosis each year, with 87 percent of them for patients 19 and younger. As with sinus infections, antibiotics are only sometimes recommended for treating this diagnosis.

The symptoms associated with middle ear infection may be caused by a true infection (suppurative otitis media, identified by the presence of pus) or by the presence of noninfected fluid in the middle ear (nonsuppurative otitis media). Antibiotics are not recommended for the latter condition.¹⁶ For suppurative otitis media, current pediatric prescribing guidelines recommend either treating the patient with antibiotics or, for certain children, waiting 48 to 72 hours to see whether symptoms improve without antibiotic treatment.¹⁷

The expert panel recommended two approaches for setting reduction targets for middle ear infections. Based on current practice guidelines, the panel recommended eliminating all antibiotic prescribing for nonsuppurative cases of middle ear infections. For a suppurative diagnosis, the panel used the same approach as with sinus infections, setting the target prescribing rate to match that of the lowest prescribing region. Based on this method, the panel estimated that there are nearly 2 million unnecessary prescriptions written for suppurative middle ear infections each year.¹⁸ Improved antibiotic prescribing for both types of middle ear infections could lead to 2.5 million fewer antibiotic prescriptions each year. Antibiotic stewardship activities should focus on improving prescribing for middle ear infections in children and adolescents, as this population accounts for such a large proportion of antibiotics prescribed for this diagnosis. Additionally, stewardship efforts should focus on helping providers to accurately diagnose suppurative middle ear infections, because these are the only cases for which antibiotics may be needed and overdiagnosis of suppurative cases may contribute to overprescribing.





Pharyngitis

Pharyngitis is a diagnosis of inflammation of the throat, which patients typically report as a sore throat. This condition accounts for over 13 million outpatient antibiotic prescriptions a year in the United States. Pharyngitis can be caused by a number of pathogens, with group *A Streptococcus* ("strep throat") being the primary bacterial cause.¹⁹ This pathogen can be accurately identified with a diagnostic test, and current guidelines recommend antibiotics for its treatment.²⁰

To set a reduction target for this diagnosis, the expert panel reviewed the literature and found that about 37 percent of children and 18 percent of adults presenting with sore throats have strep.²¹ Using these data, the panel determined that there are about 7 million excess antibiotic prescriptions written for pharyngitis each year,²² with 4 million written for patients 20-64 years old. Ensuring appropriate diagnostic testing for strep throat is critical to improving antibiotic use for this diagnosis.



Viral upper respiratory infections

Viral upper respiratory infection (URI) is also known as the "common cold" and is associated with symptoms such as cough, congestion, and sore throat.²³ Because these infections are caused by viruses and not bacteria, antibiotic therapy is not recommended.²⁴ Eliminating unnecessary use for this diagnosis could result in 8 million fewer antibiotic prescriptions each year.



Bronchitis and bronchiolitis

Bronchitis and bronchiolitis are types of infections that result in inflammation of the airways of the lungs.²⁵ Bronchiolitis occurs in children younger than 24 months. These infections are caused primarily by viral pathogens, and current guidelines recommend against prescribing antibiotics.²⁶ Adherence to these guidelines could eliminate 7.8 million prescriptions annually. Over half of this unnecessary prescribing occurs in adult patients ages 20-64. This population is a key target for antibiotic stewardship efforts for acute bronchitis.



Asthma and allergy

Asthma and allergies are commonly diagnosed conditions in outpatient health care settings. They are not caused by an infection, although symptoms sometimes associated with these diagnoses—such as cough and runny nose—can mimic an infection.²⁷ Antibiotics are not recommended for treating these conditions;²⁸ however, they account for nearly 3 million outpatient antibiotic prescriptions annually.



Influenza

Influenza (the "flu") is caused by the influenza virus and is associated with symptoms such as cough and fever.²⁹ Patients with the flu should not be treated using antibiotics.³⁰ Although the panel recommended that no patient should receive antibiotics for this viral illness, an individual estimate of the potential reduction in antibiotic prescriptions could not be calculated because of data limitations.



Pneumonia

Pneumonia is an infection often characterized by shortness of breath, fever, and cough.³¹ This disease can be caused by a number of pathogens, including bacteria and viruses.³² Antibiotics should not be prescribed in cases of known or suspected viral pneumonia. As with influenza, an individual estimate of this reduction in millions of antibiotic prescriptions could not be calculated because of data limitations. For nonviral pneumonia, the panel did not recommend any reduction target because antibiotic therapy is recommended for this diagnosis.





Other conditions

Beyond respiratory conditions, a number of other conditions are commonly treated with antibiotics in outpatient settings, including urinary tract infections (UTIs), skin infections, and acne. Some of these, such as UTIs, are usually bacterial infections for which antibiotics are an appropriate treatment.³³ No reduction targets were set for UTIs or other miscellaneous bacterial infections (such as syphilis or whooping cough). Others, such as acne and skin infections, only sometimes warrant antibiotic treatment. For these conditions, the panel again recommended using a regional approach to set reduction targets. Overall, it was estimated that these remaining conditions account for over 13 million unnecessary antibiotic prescriptions each year.

Figure 16 Recommended Prescribing Reduction–Urinary Tract Infections and Miscellaneous Bacterial Infections*



* Includes bacterial infections—excluding those categorized as acute respiratory conditions—that almost always warrant antibiotic use.

Source: Analysis of NAMCS and NHAMCS data on U.S. antibiotic prescribing, 2010-2011

© 2016 The Pew Charitable Trusts



Reaching national targets for improved antibiotic use: The role of antibiotic stewardship

Understanding how much of current antibiotic prescribing is unnecessary is only the first step to meeting the national goal of reducing inappropriate outpatient antibiotic use 50 percent by 2020. The targets set forth in this report clearly highlight conditions for which increased antibiotic stewardship is necessary. However, coordinated and sustained stakeholder action will be critical to the scale-up of current stewardship efforts.

In October 2015, Pew brought together the original panel of experts, as well as additional individuals representing diverse stakeholders, including behavioral scientists, health systems, health plans, and state health departments. This expanded group discussed interventions shown to be effective in changing outpatient prescribing habits, barriers to outpatient stewardship implementation, and the roles of stakeholders in addressing these barriers and promoting increased implementation of stewardship interventions.

Outpatient antibiotic stewardship: What does it look like?

Antibiotic stewardship programs aim to ensure that these drugs are reserved for treating bacterial infections and, when they are indicated, that the most appropriate antibiotic is prescribed at the right dose and duration of therapy. There is no one-size-fits-all stewardship program, as needs and resources vary across health care settings. However, a number of stewardship strategies can improve prescribing. Examples include:

- Audit and feedback: This strategy aims to supply health care providers with their individual antibiotic prescribing rates for a specific condition or conditions, often compared against peer rates or an expected rate based on practice guidelines. A 2013 study showed that combining physician education with audit and feedback on individual prescribing habits significantly improved antibiotic use in a handful of outpatient practices.³⁴ Other studies have found mixed results.³⁵
- **Decision support:** Clinical decision support provides clinicians with information to help them determine the most appropriate diagnosis and treatment plan for individual patients. Decision support tools range from clinical guidelines to flowcharts to electronic alerts. Studies have shown that implementing paper or electronic decision tools in outpatient facilities can improve antibiotic prescribing habits.³⁶
- **Communication training:** Health care providers often prescribe unnecessary antibiotics because they believe their patient or a patient's parents expect them.³⁷ Training on how to effectively discuss treatment options with a patient can help to overcome this barrier. For example, training a provider to make "positive" treatment recommendations—recommending nonantibiotic remedies to alleviate symptoms, rather than just telling a patient that antibiotics are not needed—can decrease antibiotic prescribing.³⁸

Overall, the group agreed that no single stewardship intervention will alone significantly improve antibiotic prescribing in all outpatient facilities. Rather, a combination of the above tactics, as well as others, will be required. Research into the effectiveness of these and other types of stewardship interventions across various practice settings is needed. These evaluations should take into account not only the effect these efforts will have on inappropriate prescribing, but also their impact on patient outcomes and cost.

Role of health care stakeholders in expanding outpatient antibiotic stewardship programs

Outpatient antibiotic stewardship efforts are complicated by a number of barriers to widespread implementation. First, these offices may not have access to personnel with expertise in critical areas such as infectious diseases, pharmacology, and information technology. Second, outpatient offices often lack adequate data systems that allow for the easy collection and dissemination of data on antibiotic use. This information can aid in stewardship implementation by highlighting prescribing habits in need of improvement. Finally, time constraints limit both the window a provider has to spend with a patient discussing alternate treatment options, as well as a small practice's ability to implement stewardship interventions in general.

A Patient's Role in Improving Antibiotic Stewardship

Providers often report feeling pressured by patients to prescribe antibiotics. Patients can help alleviate this concern by talking to their clinician about when an antibiotic is, and is not, needed to treat a particular infection. Questions such as "Do I really need an antibiotic to treat my infection?" can help patients ensure that they receive appropriate treatment.

Multiple stakeholders must contribute to antibiotic stewardship efforts in order to help overcome these barriers:

- Individual providers and practices: Clinicians and other health care providers will play a critical role in helping the U.S. reach the national targets outlined in this report. Given time and resource constraints, outpatient practices might start by targeting key conditions or populations where overprescribing is a known issue.
- Health systems: Health systems coordinate and manage patient care within a geographic area. These organizations can help provide their outpatient offices with access to additional expertise—such as infectious disease specialists and resources that can aid in stewardship implementation. For example, health systems can leverage shared electronic health records to help build the data systems needed for interventions such as audit and feedback.
- **Health plans:** Public and private health plans can play a critical role in analyzing and disseminating prescribing data for their health care providers. Plans can use these data to identify high prescribers within their networks and target them for stewardship activities, such as providing educational materials to these individuals.
- State and local health agencies: Health departments can provide outpatient facilities with information on how to implement antibiotic stewardship. These agencies can also develop local and regional networks of inpatient and outpatient facilities to work together to improve antibiotic use.
- **Federal agencies:** Government agencies can also aid stewardship efforts at the national level. For example, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention can continue to track data on antibiotic prescribing, identifying potential areas for improvement and offering guidance to individual providers and other health care stakeholders on how to implement stewardship programs across various settings.
- Health care quality organizations: Organizations that develop standards to assess the quality of health care services can develop metrics to measure the success of outpatient stewardship efforts. For example, the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) develops a collection of measures known as the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) to help assess the quality of health care in the United States. HEDIS currently includes specific measures related to antibiotic prescribing.³⁹ Outpatient stewardship efforts can be bolstered by further developing metrics for evaluating the appropriateness of antibiotic prescribing by outpatient health care providers. NCQA and other quality organizations can lead these efforts and obtain input from other health care stakeholders.

• **Professional societies:** Medical, nursing, and pharmacy professional organizations can offer their members expert guidance on current prescribing and practice guidelines most relevant to their patients. These organizations can also highlight new technologies that can aid in stewardship efforts, such as the latest diagnostic tools.

The overarching national goal and the targets outlined in this report are ambitious but achievable if stakeholders at all levels commit to comprehensive and sustained action to expand current outpatient stewardship efforts nationwide. By prioritizing antibiotic stewardship and reducing unnecessary antibiotic exposure in outpatients, these groups can minimize the threat of antibiotic resistance.

Appendix A: Glossary

Acute respiratory conditions: Key outpatient conditions that affect various parts of the respiratory tract, specifically allergies, asthma, bronchitis, bronchiolitis, influenza, sinus infections, middle ear infections, pharyngitis, pneumonia, and viral upper respiratory infections.

Allergy: An immune response to foreign substances often found in the environment; allergic reactions can range from harmless responses to life-threatening ones.⁴⁰

Asthma: Inflammatory disorder of the airway characterized by recurring episodes of wheezing, shortness of breath, and/or cough.⁴¹

Bronchiolitis: Inflammation of the smallest branches of the air passage of the lungs (bronchioles) caused by an infection; occurs in infants less than 24 months old.⁴²

Bronchitis: Inflammation of the mucous membrane of the major branches of the air passages of the lungs (bronchi).⁴³

Influenza ("flu"): A contagious infection of the respiratory pathway caused by the influenza virus.⁴⁴

Middle ear infections: Inflammation of the middle ear that frequently occurs in early childhood; also known as otitis media; can present as suppurative (presence of pus) or nonsuppurative (fluid without pus).⁴⁵

Outpatient health care settings: Health care services where patients are treated without being hospitalized, such as primary care facilities, emergency rooms, and other hospital-based specialty clinics.

Pharyngitis: Inflammation of the passage at the back of the throat (pharynx).⁴⁶

Pneumonia: Acute inflammation of the lung tissue usually due to an infection.⁴⁷

Sinus infections (sinusitis): Inflammation of one or more of the sinuses that surround the nasal cavity (paranasal sinuses).⁴⁸

Upper respiratory infections: Infection of the nasal passages, sinuses, voice box (larynx), or passage at the back of the throat (pharynx);⁴⁹ in this report, viral upper respiratory infection specifically refers to diagnoses of a common cold or unspecified upper respiratory infection.

Urinary tract infections: Infection of the kidneys, bladder, urethra, or ureter.⁵⁰

Appendix B: Data sources for assessing outpatient antibiotic use

The data used to identify current patterns in outpatient antibiotic prescribing and inform the process for setting national reduction targets come from two surveys conducted in the United States annually, the National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS) and the National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NHAMCS). Together, these nationally representative surveys provide a picture of outpatient services in the United States, including visits to doctors' offices, emergency departments, and hospital specialty clinics. Specific to antibiotic prescribing, NAMCS and NHAMCS collect information on the diagnosis or diagnoses made by the clinician and any drugs that a patient is newly prescribed or is taking at the time of that office visit. These data provide a snapshot of why antibiotics are being prescribed in outpatient facilities.

Although NAMCS and NHAMCS offer the best data currently available to assess the appropriateness of antibiotic prescribing in the United States, it is important to recognize that they represent only a portion of total outpatient services. For example, these data do not include information on antibiotic prescribing that occurs independent of an office visit, such as prescribing via telemedicine or in retail and urgent care clinics. These are also important settings for outpatient services in the United States. Additionally, NAMCS and NHAMCS do not survey dental offices. Dentists are one of the highest prescribing specialties in the United States, representing 9 percent of all outpatient antibiotic prescriptions.⁵¹ These surveys may also underrepresent prescribing by physician assistants and nurse practitioners.

Thus, in part because NAMCS and NHAMCS represent only a subset of outpatient prescribing facilities, the national goal outlined in this report should be considered a minimum estimate of how much antibiotic use should be reduced in this country. Additional work must be conducted to identify opportunities for improved prescribing by outpatient providers not currently included in this goal.

Appendix C: Methodology for setting national reduction targets

To identify how much of outpatient antibiotic use is unnecessary, the expert panel took a condition-specific approach to analyzing the baseline data provided by NAMCS and NHAMCS.

As a first step, the panel recommended an analytic approach that took any documented secondary and tertiary diagnoses into account for individual patients. Patients were categorized according to the most antibiotic-appropriate diagnosis. For example, in NAMCS or NHAMCS, a patient may have bronchitis listed as the primary diagnosis but have bacterial pneumonia as his or her second or third diagnosis. Although an antibiotic is not recommended for the treatment of bronchitis, it is recommended for cases of bacterial pneumonia. Using the panel's recommended approach, this patient's antibiotic prescription would be counted as appropriate due to the pneumonia diagnosis. This antibiotic prescription would not be included in the total number of antibiotics prescribed for bronchitis.

The panel then recommended two primary methods for setting condition-specific targets. For many of the acute respiratory conditions, current prescribing guidelines provided clear recommendations for or against antibiotic therapy within defined circumstances. In those cases, the panel set reduction targets based solely on these published, consensus documents. This method was used for the following diagnoses:

- Nonsuppurative middle ear infections.
- Pharyngitis.
- Viral upper respiratory infections.
- Bronchitis and bronchiolitis.
- Asthma and allergies.
- Influenza.
- Pneumonia.
- Urinary tract infections.
- Miscellaneous bacterial infections.

For pharyngitis, the panel also utilized literature to determine what percentage of patients with pharyngitis have strep throat—i.e., meet criteria for antibiotic prescribing according to current guidelines.

For conditions where an optimal prescribing rate was unclear—illnesses for which antibiotics are sometimes but not always appropriate—the panel recommended a geographic approach for determining an "ideal" prescribing rate. Using this method, the target prescribing rate was set as the rate of the lowest prescribing region for each condition and age group. This method was used for the following diagnoses:

- Sinus infections.
- Suppurative middle ear infections.
- Remaining conditions.

The panel was not aware of data suggesting that low-prescribing regions had worse outcomes. Research to evaluate patient outcomes associated with these conditions would be useful moving forward.

The reductions targets set forth in this report focus on just a single aspect of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing: unnecessary antibiotic use. However, inappropriate prescribing also includes other situations, such as the choice of a therapeutically inappropriate drug or duration of treatment. The panel also evaluated the appropriateness of current outpatient prescribing according to antibiotic choice, with results to be presented in a future report.

Appendix D: Reduction tables

Table D.1

Acute Respiratory Conditions

Diagnosis	Number of antibiotic prescriptions (millions)	Recommended number of antibiotic prescriptions (millions)	Antibiotic prescription rate per 1,000 people	Recommended antibiotic prescription rate per 1,000 people	Reduction target		
Goals: 0-19 years old							
Asthma/allergy, bronchitis/ bronchiolitis, influenza, middle ear infections (nonsuppurative), viral upper respiratory infections, viral pneumonia	7.4	0	90	0	-100%		
Sinus infections	5.4	4.9	65	59	-9%		
Middle ear infections (suppurative)	12.8	11.4	154	138	-10%		
Pharyngitis	7.5	5	91	60	-34%		
Pneumonia (nonviral)	1.8	1.8	22	22	0%		
Total	34.8	23	421	278	-34%		
Goals: 20-64 years old							
Asthma/allergy, bronchitis/ bronchiolitis, influenza, middle ear infections (nonsuppurative), viral upper respiratory infections, viral pneumonia	9.5	0	52	0	-100%		
Sinus infections	10	4.9	55	27	-51%		
Middle ear infections (suppurative)	1.6	1.1	9	6	-33%		
Pharyngitis	5.3	1.3	29	7	-75%		
Pneumonia (nonviral)	1	1	5	5	0%		
Total	27.3	8.3	150	45	-70%		
Goals: 65 and older							
Asthma/allergy, bronchitis/ bronchiolitis, influenza, middle ear infections (nonsuppurative), viral upper respiratory infections, viral pneumonia	2.6	0	66	0	-100%		
Sinus infections	1.7	1.5	44	37	-16%		
Middle ear infections (suppurative)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Pharyngitis	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Pneumonia (nonviral)	0.5	0.5	12	12	0%		
Total	5.4	2.5	136	63	-54%		

© 2016 The Pew Charitable Trusts

Table D.2 Other Conditions

Diagnosis	Number of antibiotic prescriptions in millions	Recommended number of antibiotic prescriptions in millions	Antibiotic prescription rate per 1,000 people	Recommended antibiotic prescription rate per 1,000 people	Reduction target			
Goals: 0-19 years old								
Urinary tract infections	1.9	1.9	23	23	0%			
Miscellaneous bacterial infections	1.6	1.6	20	20	0%			
Remaining conditions	15.1	11.3	182	137	-25%			
Total	18.6	14.9	225	180	-20%			
Goals: 20-64 years old								
Urinary tract infections	6.4	6.4	35	35	0%			
Miscellaneous bacterial infections	2	2	11	11	0%			
Remaining conditions	40.7	32.9	222	180	-19%			
Total	49.2	41.5	269	227	-16%			
Goals: 65 and older								
Urinary tract infections	2.5	2.5	64	64	0%			
Miscellaneous bacterial infections	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			
Remaining conditions	15.9	14.3	401	362	-10%			
Total	19	17.5	480	441	-8%			

Endnotes

- 1 Katie J. Suda et al., "A National Evaluation of Antibiotic Expenditures by Healthcare Setting in the United States, 2009," *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 68, no. 3 (2013): 715–718, doi:10.1093/jac/dks445, http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/content/68/3/715.
- 2 The White House, *National Action Plan for Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria*, March 2015, accessed July 27, 2015, https://www. whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/national_action_plan_for_combating_antibiotic-resistant_bacteria.pdf.
- 3 World Health Organization, Antimicrobial Resistance: Global Report on Surveillance, 2014, accessed July 28, 2015, http://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/10665/112642/1/9789241564748_eng.pdf?ua=1.
- 4 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2013, accessed Nov. 12, 2014, http:// www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/threat-report-2013.
- 5 Adam L. Hersh et al., "Unmet Medical Need in Infectious Diseases," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 54, no. 11 (2012): 1677-1678, doi: 10.1093/ cid/cis275, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3404719.
- 6 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Antibiotic Resistance Threats.
- 7 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "CDC's Graphs of the Year: Nightmare Bacteria Spread and 100,000 Smokers Likely Quit With Tips," accessed July 28, 2015, http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2013/a1231-graphs-year.html; U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Tracking CRE Infections," accessed July 28, 2015, http://www.cdc.gov/hai/organisms/cre/TrackingCRE.html.
- 8 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Antibiotic Resistance Threats.
- 9 Suda et al., "A National Evaluation of Antibiotic Expenditures," 715-718.
- 10 Fernanda C. Lessa et al., "Burden of *Clostridium difficile Infection in the United States*," *New England Journal of Medicine* 372, no. 9 (2015): 825–834, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1408913, http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1408913#t=article.
- 11 Nadine Shehab et al., "Emergency Department Visits for Antibiotic-Associated Adverse Events," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 47, no. 6 (2008): 735–743, doi: 10.1086/591126, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/47/6/735.long.
- 12 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Antibiotic Resistance Threats.
- 13 Anthony W. Chow et al., "IDSA Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Bacterial Rhinosinusitis in Children and Adults," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 54, no. 8 (2012): e72-e112, doi: 10.1093/cid/cir1043, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2012/03/20/cid.cir1043. full; Richard M. Rosenfeld et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline (Update): Adult Sinusitis," *Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery* 152, suppl. 2 (2015): S1-S39, doi: 10.1177/0194599815572097, http://oto.sagepub.com/content/152/2_suppl/S1.long; Ellen R. Wald et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Acute Bacterial Sinusitis in Children Aged 1 to 18 Years," *Pediatrics* 132 (2013): e262-e280, doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-1071, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/early/2013/06/19/peds.2013-1071.
- 14 George H. Talbot et al., "Rigid Nasal Endoscopy versus Sinus Puncture and Aspiration for Microbiologic Documentation of Acute Bacterial Maxillary Sinusitis, *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 33, no. 10 (2001): 1668–1675, doi: 10.1086/323813, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/ content/33/10/1668.full.pdf+html.
- 15 Chow et al., "IDSA Clinical Practice Guideline."
- 16 American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, and American Academy of Pediatrics Subcommittee on Otitis Media With Effusion, "Otitis Media With Effusion," *Pediatrics* 113, no. 5 (2004): 1412–1429, http:// pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/113/5/1412.
- 17 Allan S. Lieberthal et al., "The Diagnosis and Management of Acute Otitis Media," *Pediatrics* 131, no. 3 (2013): e964-e999, doi: 10.1542/ peds.2012-3488, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/early/2013/02/20/peds.2012-3488.
- 18 No reduction target was set for adults 65 and older as there were not enough suppurative middle ear infection visits resulting in antibiotic prescriptions to make a reliable estimate.
- 19 Stanford T. Shulman et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Group A Streptococcal Pharyngitis: 2012 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 55, no. 10 (2012): e86-e102, doi: 10.1093/cid/cis629, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/55/10/e86.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Nader Shaikh, Erica Leonard, and Judith M. Martin, "Prevalence of Streptococcal Pharyngitis and Streptococcal Carriage in Children: A Meta-Analysis," *Pediatrics* 126, no. 3 (2010): e557-e564, doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2648; Andrew M. Fine, Victor Nizet, and Kenneth D. Mandl, "Large-Scale Validation of the Centor and McIsaac Scores to Predict Group A Streptococcal Pharyngitis," *Archives of Internal Medicine* 172, no. 11 (2012): 847-852, doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2012.950, http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article. aspx?articleid=1157417.

- 22 No reduction target was set for adults 65 and older as there were not enough pharyngitis visits resulting in antibiotic prescriptions to make a reliable estimate.
- 23 Mayo Clinic, "Diseases and Conditions—Common Cold: Symptoms," accessed Jan. 25, 2016, http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseasesconditions/common-cold/basics/symptoms/con-20019062.
- 24 Adam L. Hersh et al., "Principles of Judicious Antibiotic Prescribing for Upper Respiratory Tract Infections in Pediatrics," *Pediatrics* 132, no. 6 (2013): 1146-1154, doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3260, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/132/6/1146; Vincenza Snow et al., "Principles of Appropriate Antibiotic Use for Treatment of Nonspecific Upper Respiratory Tract Infections in Adults," *Annals of Internal Medicine* 134, no. 6 (2001): 487-489, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-134-6-200103200-00014; Scott F. Dowell et al., "Appropriate Use of Antibiotics for URIs in Children: Part II, Cough, Pharyngitis and the Common Cold," *American Family Physician* 58, no. 6 (1998): 1335-1342, http://www.aafp.org/afp/1998/1015/p1335.html.
- 25 Shawn L. Ralston et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline: The Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Bronchiolitis," *Pediatrics* 134, no. 5 (2014): e1474-e1502, doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-2742, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/134/5/e1474.
- 26 Ralston et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline"; Vincenza Snow et al., "Principles of Appropriate Antibiotic Use for Treatment of Acute Bronchitis in Adults," *Annals of Internal Medicine* 134, no. 6 (2001): 518-520, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-134-6-200103200-00020.
- 27 Mayo Clinic, "Diseases and Conditions—Allergies: Symptoms," accessed Jan. 25, 2016, http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/ allergies/basics/symptoms/con-20034030; Mayo Clinic, "Diseases and Conditions—Asthma: Symptoms," accessed Jan. 25, 2016, http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/asthma/basics/symptoms/con-20026992.
- 28 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Asthma Education and Prevention Program, *Expert Panel Report 3: Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma* (2007), accessed Sept. 14, 2015, http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/guidelines/asthgdln.pdf.
- 29 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "influenza."
- 30 Anthony E. Fiore et al., "Antiviral Agents for the Treatment and Chemoprophylaxis of Influenza: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 60, no. 1 (2011): 1–25, http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/ pdf/rr/rr6001.pdf.
- 31 Mayo Clinic, "Diseases and Conditions—Pneumonia: Symptoms," accessed Jan. 25, 2016, http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseasesconditions/pneumonia/basics/symptoms/con-20020032.
- 32 John S. Bradley et al., "Executive Summary: The Management of Community-Acquired Pneumonia in Infants and Children Older than 3 Months of Age: Clinical Practice Guidelines by the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 53, no. 7 (2011): 617-630, doi: 10.1093/cid/cir625, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/53/7/617.full; Lionel A. Mandell et al., "Infectious Diseases Society of America/American Thoracic Society Consensus Guidelines on the Management of Community-Acquired Pneumonia in Adults," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 44, suppl. 2 (2007): S27-S72, doi: 10.1086/511159, http://cid. oxfordjournals.org/content/44/Supplement_2/S27.full.
- 33 Kalpana Gupta et al., "International Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Treatment of Acute Uncomplicated Cystitis and Pyelonephritis in Women: A 2010 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the European Society for Microbiology and Infectious Diseases," *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 52, no. 5 (2011): e103-e120, doi: 10.1093/cid/ciq257, http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/52/5/ e103.full; American Academy of Pediatrics, Subcommittee on Urinary Tract Infection, Steering Committee on Quality Improvement and Management, "Urinary Tract Infection: Clinical Practice Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of the Initial UTI in Febrile Infants and Children 2 to 24 Months," *Pediatrics* 128, no. 3 (2011): 595-610, doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-1330, http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/ content/128/3/595.
- 34 Jeffrey S. Gerber et al., "Effect of an Outpatient Antimicrobial Stewardship Intervention on Broad-Spectrum Antibiotic Prescribing by Primary Care Pediatricians: A Randomized Trial," *Journal of American Medical Association* 309, no. 22 (2013): 2345–2352, doi: 10.1001/ jama.2013.6287, http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1696098.
- 35 Dimitri Drekonja et al., Antimicrobial Stewardship Programs in Outpatient Settings: A Systematic Review, U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, Health Services Research and Development Service, Evidence-based Synthesis Program (2014), accessed Aug. 21, 2015, http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0072334/pdf/PubMedHealth_PMH0072334.pdf.
- 36 Ralph Gonzales et al., "A Cluster Randomized Trial of Decision Support Strategies for Reducing Antibiotic Use in Acute Bronchitis," *Journal of the American Medical Association Internal Medicine* 173, no. 4 (2013): 267-273, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.1589, http://archinte. jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1556795; Thomas G. McGinn et al., "Efficacy of an Evidence-Based Clinical Decision Support in Primary Care Practices: A Randomized Clinical Trial," *Journal of the American Medical Association Internal Medicine* 173, no. 17 (2013): 1584-1591, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.8980, http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=1722509.
- 37 Guillermo V. Sanchez et al., "Effects of Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practices of Primary Care Providers on Antibiotic Selection, United States," *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 20, no. 12 (2014): 2041–2047, doi: 10.3201/eid2012.140331, http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/ eid/article/20/12/14-0331_article; Patrick P. Dempsey et al., "Primary Care Clinicians' Perceptions About Antibiotic Prescribing for

Acute Bronchitis: A Qualitative Study," *BMC Family Practice 15*, no. 194 (2014), doi: 10.1186/s12875-014-0194-5, http://bmcfampract.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12875-014-0194-5.

- 38 Rita Mangione-Smith et al., "Communication Practices and Antibiotic Use for Acute Respiratory Tract Infections in Children," Annals of Family Medicine 13, no. 3 (2015): 221–227, doi: 10.1370/afm.1785, http://www.annfammed.org/content/13/3/221.full.
- 39 National Committee for Quality Assurance, "HEDIS 2016 Volume 2: Technical Specifications for Health Plans" (2015), http://www.ncqa. org/HEDISQualityMeasurement/HEDISMeasures/HEDIS2016.aspx.
- 40 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "allergy."
- 41 Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, 22nd ed., s.v. "asthma."
- 42 Ralston et al., "Clinical Practice Guideline."
- 43 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "bronchitis."
- 44 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "influenza."
- 45 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "otitis media"; D. Stewart Rowe, "Acute Suppurative Otitis Media," *Pediatrics* 56, no. 2 (1975): 285-294, http://pediatrics.aapublications.org/content/56/2/285.short; American Academy of Family Physicians, "Otitis Media With Effusion," 1412-1429.
- 46 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "pharyngitis."
- 47 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "pneumonia."
- 48 Chow, "IDSA Clinical Practice Guidelines."
- 49 Mosby's Medical Dictionary, 9th ed., s.v. "upper respiratory infection."
- 50 Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, 22nd ed., s.v. "urinary tract infection."
- 51 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Outpatient Antibiotic Prescriptions—United States, 2013," accessed Nov. 19, 2015, http://www.cdc.gov/getsmart/community/pdfs/annual-reportsummary_2013.pdf.

Philadelphia Washington

